RONALD WAYNE CLARK, Appellant,

v.

Lt. Case #: 160-1990-CF010067-AXXX-MA Appeal No. SC-072318

STATE OF FLORIDA Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

_____/

Harry Brody Jeff Hazen Brody & Hazen, P.A. P.O. Box 16515 Tallahassee, FL 32317 850.942.0005 Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF CITATIONS

Citations follow the record from the state court appellate proceedings. Thus, citations to the appellate record of the trial are designated (R. ____) and citations to the appellate record of post-conviction proceedings are designated (PC-R. ____).

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Ronald Willis was shot and killed on January 13, 1990. <u>Clark v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 412, 413 (Fla. 1992) His body was found in rural Duval County on that same day. <u>Id.</u> Ultimately, Appellant and John Hatch were arrested for Mr. Willis's murder. Hatch quickly affixed Mr. Clark with primary culpability for the killing and robbery of Mr. Willis. Id.

The state indicted Mr. Clark for first-degree murder and armed robbery, and, in January 1991, tried him on these charges. (PC-R. 0900) Mr. Hatch testified against Mr. Clark in exchange for receiving a 25-year sentence for his participation in the crime. <u>Id.</u> [By the time of the evidentiary hearing, on February 26, 2007, Mr. Hatch was free and testified for the state again. (PC-R. 1084)] At trial, Appellant testified that Mr. Hatch killed Mr. Willis. (PC-R. 0384) Nevertheless, the jury convicted Appellant of armed robbery and murder. Id.

In the penalty-phase of the trial, no mitigating evidence was introduced, and the jury, by an 11-1 vote rendered after 14 minutes of deliberation, recommended to the court that Appellant be sentenced to death. Id.

A <u>Spencer</u> hearing was held on February 20, 1991, wherein counsel argued that a life sentence was

appropriate, but the judge ultimately followed the jury's recommendation and sentenced Appellant to death. Id.

Mr. Clark appealed the conviction and sentence, but the Florida Supreme Court found the evidence sufficient to convict Mr. Clark and affirmed the conviction and the death sentence. <u>Clark v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 412 (Fla. 1992) Subsequently, the United States Supreme Court denied review.

Appellant timely filed a motion for post-conviction relief, which was amended twice. (PC-R. 385) Finally, an evidentiary hearing was held on February 26, 2007 and, thereafter, Judge Wiggins entered an Order denying Appellant's claims for relief. (PC-R. 826-859)

Mr. Clark hereby appeals the denial of his postconviction motion for vacation of his judgment of conviction and sentence of death. (PC-R. 881-900)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND SUMMARY OF EVIDENTIARY HEARING

TESTIMONY

At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Michael Thompson testified that he is an inmate at Union Correctional Institution ("UCI"), where he's been incarcerated since 2003. (PC-R. 945) He met Appellant in the library for Death Row at UCI, where Mr. Thompson worked as a librarian. <u>Id.</u> Mr. Thompson made some copies for Mr. Clark and proofed some documents for him. (PC-R. 946)

While looking over Appellant's paperwork, Mr. Thompson saw and recognized the name "John Hatch," with whom Mr. Thompson had "done time" at another prison. <u>Id.</u> In fact, Mr. Thompson and Mr. Hatch had done ten years together at Baker Correctional Institution, and were "good friends." Id.

Mr. Thompson testified that, one particular night, Mr. Hatch was upset and started crying. <u>Id.</u> Mr. Hatch told Mr. Thompson how he, Mr. Hatch, had had to testify against Mr. Clark to save his own life. <u>Id.</u> Hatch explained that he either had to testify or he would have ended up on Death Row. <u>Id.</u> According to Mr. Hatch, he and Mr. Clark were in a car with a guy during a drug deal when the guy pulled a gun, so Mr. Hatch pulled his gun and shot the guy dead. (PC-R. 947) Thus, Mr. Hatch told Mr. Thompson that Mr.

Hatch was the shooter and admitted that he testified untruthfully against Mr. Clark at Clark's trial. <u>Id.</u> After he killed the guy, Mr. Hatch dumped the body off a bridge into a canal. (PC-R. 948)

Finally, Mr. Thompson testified that he didn't know Mr. Clark until some time in 2005, when he met Mr. Clark in the library and recognized who he was. (PC-R. 955) Thompson also expressed to Mr. Clark fear of becoming involved while he worked in the Death Row library because "the system" would retaliate against him if he helped Mr. Clark. Id.

Appellant's trial attorney, Henry Davis (hereafter "Judge Davis"), is now a Circuit Judge in Duval County. (PC-R. 964) Judge Davis testified that he represented Mr. Clark in two murder cases, one case in Nassau County and the instant case in Duval County. (PC-R. 1114)

Judge Davis testified that Mr. Clark was 21 or 22 years old when they met and that Mr. Clark was one of the nicest clients that he ever had. (PC-R. 0968) Further, although the cases originated in different counties, both cases were related in many ways. (PC-R. 971) Thus, he intended to introduce the penalty-phase material and substantial mitigation he'd found or developed in both cases. (PC-R. 972) Ultimately, however, he did not present

any mitigation in the Duval County case, primarily because Mr. Clark told him that he did not want to spend the rest of his life in prison. <u>Id.</u> Thus, since he had received the death penalty in Nassau County, Mr. Clark did not want to present the mitigation in Duval if he was convicted. (PC-R. 972)

Judge Davis also testified that he felt that the mitigation he had found and presented in the Nassau case "cut both ways" because of its disturbing nature and impact on the jurors. (PC-R. 973-974) In fact, according to Judge Davis, Mr. Clark's was "the most traumatic, painful life that I had ever heard [of.]" (PC-R. 975)

Mr. Clark did not receive "normal parenting" from birth. (PC-R. 975-976) No one taught him right from wrong, testified Judge Davis. Still, Mr. Clark was, and is, bright, intelligent, and articulate, having educated himself as best he could. <u>Id.</u> In jail, Mr. Clark had apparently examined his life, and Judge Davis testified that he and Mr. Clark had long discussions about Mr. Clark's life, and about his accomplishments and regrets, and the person Judge Davis met in jail was not the person who'd been subjected to and done such terrible things as Judge Davis described as comprising Mr. Clark's life from

birth or conception until his arrest for the shooting. (PC-R. 975)

In jail, he was put on medication and, once Mr. Clark got away from the street drugs, alcohol, and running the streets, Mr. Clark seemed to Judge Davis like a different person. (PC-R. 976) As Judge Davis remarked, "The person who is seated here is not the person who in Nassau County was out in the road killing people as the jury said." (PC-R. 976)

In Nassau County, Judge Davis's strategy was to present all of the mitigation he had found. (PC-R. 376) However, according to Judge Davis, Duval was a different situation because, in Nassau, the State had two very credible witnesses. On the other hand, in Duval, an examination of the facts leading up to the shooting indicates that a strong inference could be made that Mr. Hatch was, as he eventually confessed to Mr. Thompson, the shooter. (PC-R. 977) Appellant denied then, as he does now, that he shot Mr. Willis. <u>Id.</u> However, as Judge Davis explained, he didn't know of any evidence which confirmed that. (PC-R. 978) Thus, Judge Davis calculated that, if the jury concluded Hatch was the shooter, then Mr. Clark would not get the death penalty. Id.

Judge Davis did recall that, shortly before trial, two Nassau County deputies claimed that they overheard Mr. Clark make allegedly incriminating statements. <u>Id.</u> Judge Davis suspects this may have tilted things; however, with the close guilt question, he didn't want to present the mitigation that included Mr. Clark's history of violence. <u>Id.</u> Further, Judge Davis realized that the jury merely makes a recommendation, but the trial judge is not required to follow it. <u>Id.</u> It is, Judge Davis testified, "the judge's call." Id.

In sum, Judge Davis thought that there was sufficient psychiatric and personal history in the psychiatric reports prepared for the case to convince "anybody" that Ronald Clark was "seriously disturbed at the time all this was going on." (PC-R. 979) Thus, beyond showing that Ronald Clark was "not a normal person to say the least" at the time he was convicted, Judge Davis didn't think that presenting the mitigation which was used in Nassau would have been particularly beneficial. <u>Id.</u> Certainly, as all of the witnesses save one were local, and all of them were cooperative and available, the mitigation could easily have been presented. <u>Id.</u>

Judge Davis also testified that, in his judgment, most of what Mr. Clark and Mr. Hatch were doing was Mr. Hatch's

idea. (PC-R. 981) Mr. Hatch stole the gun and the ammunition and loaded the gun. <u>Id.</u> Mr. Hatch left Nassau County with the gun and brought it into Duval County. <u>Id.</u> Mr. Hatch and Mr. Clark were drunk and doing drugs and it seemed, to Judge Davis, "farfetched" to believe that, at the last moment, Mr. Hatch, not knowing what Mr. Clark would do, would hand the loaded weapon to Mr. Clark. (PC-R. 982)

In fact, Judge Davis testified that, in Nassau County, the defense presented all of the mitigation it had developed, including the evidence of sexual abuse inflicted on Mr. Clark and other "hard" mitigation to listen to. (PC-R. 983-984) This was the evidence in the record that the Florida Supreme Court received before it over-turned the death sentence in the Nassau County case. (PC-R. 984)

Regarding the Duval case, Judge Davis re-iterated that he thought the best outcome would occur if he could convince the jury that Mr. Hatch was the shooter. Judge Davis did not recall there being a "significant difference" in the sizes of Mr. Clark and Mr. Hatch, as Mr. Clark was 75-100 pounds lighter then, but frail. (PC-R. 0987) Both Mr. Clark and Mr. hatch were thin, but Mr. Clark was the taller of the two. Id.

As the Nassau County case was stronger, the state tried the Nassau case first so it could use a conviction as a prior-violent-felony aggravator, and the existence of that weighty aggravator was a substantial difference between the Nassau and the Duval cases. Id.

Prior to trial, Judge Davis and Mr. Clark met regularly to prepare the case. (PC-R. 988) Appellant was always open, amenable, and pleasant. <u>Id.</u> They would talk and discuss options. Id. The family was also helpful. Id.

Judge Davis did not hire or retain a private investigator, nor did he "really want a private investigator on the case." <u>Id.</u> He didn't see any need for an investigator to look further into the facts, and he was also concerned with someone looking into some of the unsavory rumors he'd heard about Mr. Hatch and Mr. Clark, apparently for fear of what an investigator might turn up. At that time, he didn't use an investigator to develop mitigation and doesn't know if mitigation experts were even around. (PC-R. 989) Instead, Judge Davis developed the mitigation himself in consultation with doctors who had seen Mr. Clark in the past. (PC-R. 990) (Occasionally, when he did use an investigator, Walter Wright, to locate possible witnesses, Mr. Wright would just locate people, not develop mitigation or do interviews. Id.) Judge Davis

did posit, however, that, if an investigation could have found witnesses who would have helped him prove Hatch was the shooter, he would have wanted to do that. (PC-R. 990)

Finally, Judge Davis testified that, in his opinion, the homicide in this case "could not be distinguished from the murder cases that are tried every week here in Duval County." (PC-R. 999) "They are all bad," he added. <u>Id.</u>

Dr. Elizabeth Tannahill Glen, a clinical neuropsychologist testified for the state that she studies the brain and behavior, how the brain functions, and how these things effect thinking, mood, and behavior. (PC-R. 1025)

Dr. Glen testified that she had been unable to document brain dysfunction or damage in Mr. Clark. (PC-R. 1031) She concluded that Mr. Clark suffers from antisocial personality disorder. (PC-R. 1043) She further opined that he is a "sociopath," while acknowledging that "sociopath" is not a technical, diagnostic term. (PC-R. 1050-1051) According to Dr. Glen, Mr. Clark manifests a "narcissistic" tendency toward grandiosity. (PC-R. 1051-1052)

Regarding her background, Dr. Glen acknowledged that she had worked for the Atlanta Police Department in its Victim Witness Association or assistance program. (PC-R.

1055) Also, although this was only the second time that she'd testified in a criminal case, she has always been hired by the State. (PC-R. 1056)

Regarding the scope of her expertese, Dr. Glen acknowledged that she would defer to a medical doctor or to a psychiatrist concerning the prescribing of drugs or the effect of those drugs on patients. (PC-R. 1058)

Dr. Glen also admitted that, if Mr. Clark were remorseful, such remorse would be inconsistent with her diagnosis of anti-social personality disorder, although she strongly cautioned that remorse, superficially expressed, would not necessarily be inconsistent. (PC-R. 1058-1059) She did feel comfortable with her diagnosis, although she only saw Mr. Clark once for seven hours sixteen or seventeen years after the shootings and the trial. (PC-R. 1061)

Regarding her diagnosis of alleged malingering by Mr. Clark, Dr. Glen acknowledged that she did not know what specific motivation Mr. Clark might have for malingering. (PC-R. 1062-1064) She also admitted that she is more familiar with malingering in the context of a civil, personal-injury lawsuit, where the obvious motivation is monetary. (PC-R. 1063)

Finally, Dr. Glen acknowledged that, in her examination of Mr. Clark and her testimony in the case, she explicitly "stayed away from" and did not discuss "the crime itself and the circumstances around that." (PC-R. 1065) She was not asked to address the specifics of either shooting. (PC-R. 1067) She also denied being able to testify as a neurologist about brain function or brain damage. (PC-R. 1066-1067) Still, she insisted that she could diagnose brain damage. (PC-R. 1067)

To conclude the testimony taken at the evidentiary hearing, John David Hatch testified that he did know Michael Thompson in prison, but Mr. Hatch denied that he told Mr. Thompson that he shot and killed Mr. Willis. (PC-R. 1085)

THE HEARING COURT'S ORDER

On September 17, 2007, the hearing court issued an "Order Denying Defendant's Motions For Post-Conviction Relief." (PC-R. 826-859)

The hearing court first reviewed the "Procedural History" of the case, noting <u>inter alia</u>, that the sentencing court had found no mitigation, either statutory or non-statutory. (PC-R. 0827)

Addressing Claim One of the Second Amended Motion, the court first noted that the Claim consists of two subclaims. (PC-R. 832) The first is a <u>Brady</u> claim alleging that three exculpatory statements were not disclosed to the defense. (PC-R. 832) See, also <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. (1963)

The three statements, as the court writes, were, in fact, disclosed. (PC-R. 833) Thus, <u>Brady</u> is inappropriate and the court denied this part of the claim. Id.

Regarding the second part of Claim One, Appellant alleged that the state knowingly presented false, material evidence. See, <u>Giglio v. U.S.</u>, 405 U.S. 150 (1972); <u>U.S.</u> <u>v. Agurs</u>, 427 U.S. 97 (1976); and <u>Guzman v. State</u>, 868 So. 2d 498 (Fla. 2003)

Claim One alleged that Mr. Hatch's mother and his sister-in-law falsely testified that Appellant had

possession of the gun on the day of the shooting and that Mr. Hatch testified that his statement to the jury and on the day of his arrest were the same.

At the hearing, Mr. Hatch denied Mr. Thompson's allegations that Mr. Hatch was the shooter. He also testified that he testified truthfully at the trial. With no evidence to the contrary, the court denied this claim.

Addressing Claim Two, ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to investigate and to present mitigating evidence, the hearing court held that the claim is procedurally barred on the ground that it was raised on direct appeal. (PC-R. 863) [Mr. Clark contended that the trial court erred in allowing him to waive the presentation of mitigation. <u>Clark v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 412 (Fla. 1992)] The hearing court also noted that the trial court's waiver inquiry was adequate. (PC-R. 836) Nevertheless, the hearing court also addressed the ineffective assistance claim. <u>Id.</u> The court found that counsel's performance was not deficient based on Judge Davis's testimony that the evidence "cut both ways" and that Mr. Clark didn't want mitigation presented. (PC-R. 837)

The hearing court also addressed the allegation that an investigator wasn't hired. <u>Id.</u> The court relied on Judge Davis's testimony that the investigators "aren't out

there" and that he didn't think it necessary to hire one. <u>Id.</u> The court agreed with Judge Davis that there was no need for a blood spatter expert. <u>Id.</u> The court notes Judge Davis's testimony that, if he knew of evidence to show that Mr. Hatch was the shooter, he would have developed it. (PC-R. 838)

Finally, the court relies on Judge Davis's testimony that Mr. Clark's clear memory of events eliminated any voluntary intoxication defense. Id. Similarly, Judge Davis's testimony that, with Appellant's consent, the introduction of the medical reports, which, again, "cut both ways," was preferable to calling the doctors to testify. (PC-R. 838) The court agreed, and, in general, found Judge Davis's testimony more credible and more persuasive than the allegations. See, Laramore v. State, 699 So. 2d 846 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) Thus, the court held that counsel's performance was not deficient, citing Songer v. State, 419 So. 2d 1044 (Fla. 1982); and Gonzalez v. State, 579 So. 2d 145 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991) (Tactical decisions of counsel do not constitute IAC.) Appellant contends that the hearing court erred in denying this claim.

Claim Three, ineffective assistance in guilt-phase for failing to present a voluntary intoxication defense, was

denied on the strength of Judge Davis's testimony that Mr. Clark's clear recollection belied the defense. (PC-R. 839)

Further, the court holds that Mr. Clark presented no evidence of his claim that trial counsel failed to present evidence of Mr. Clark's long-standing substance abuse and mental health problems and cites Dr. Glen's testimony he suffered no extreme emotional or mental disturbance. <u>Id.</u> Thus, the court denies this IAC guilt-phase claim.

The allegation that various experts should have been called is denied as facially insufficient. <u>Id.</u> Judge Davis testified that he didn't see the need to hire a blood spatter expert, that he didn't know who was wearing what clothes when the crimes occurred, and that Mr. Clark was wearing the victim's boots when he was arrested.

In sum, the hearing court denied the IAC guilt-phase claim, citing <u>Gore v. State</u>, 846 So. 2d 461, 469-70 (Fla. 2000) and <u>Cunningham v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 328 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (Burden on movement to present supporting witnesses.) Appellant contends that Judge Davis should have utilized any evidence indicating Mr. Hatch as the shooter.

Claim Four, that counsel failed to use all preemptory challenges, was denied as facially insufficient and, in any case, fails to satisfy the requirements of <u>Strickland</u>. (PC-

R. 841) See, <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 921 So. 2d 490 (Fla. 2005) and <u>Reaves v. State</u>, 826 So. 2d 932 (Fla. 2002) <u>dd.</u> (Speculation and conjecture insufficient basis for claim.) Also, Judge Davis testified he wouldn't have left three challenges if he weren't satisfied with jury. (PC-R. 841) Appellant does not appeal this holding.

Claim Five, alleging a violation of <u>Ake v. Oklahoma</u>, 470 U.S. 68 (1985), was procedurally barred. <u>Id.</u> No appeal is taken.

Claim Six, alleging that a reliable competency hearing was not held, was denied on its merits. (PC-R. 842) Appellant was found competent by Dr. Barnard and Dr. Miller, who were appointed by the court to evaluate him. (PC-R. 842) No appeal is taken.

Claim Seven, alleging incompetence to stand trial, was denied on its merits. (See Claim Six, <u>supra</u>.) (PC-R. 842) No appeal is taken.

Claim Eight, alleging improper waiver of penaltyphase, was procedurally barred as it was on direct appeal. (PC-R. 843) Appellant contends waiver was not knowing.

Claim Nine, alleging Mr. Hatch's perjury rendered death sentence unreliable, was denied on same grounds as Claim One. (PC-R. 843) Appellant contends that Mr. Hatch was shooter on the basis of Newly Discovered Evidence and

IAC where counsel didn't cite evidentiary support for contention that Mr. Hatch was the shooter.

Claim Ten, alleging a <u>Caldwell</u> violation (diminution of jury responsibility for "recommendation"), was procedurally barred. (PC-R. 844) No appeal is taken.

Claims Eleven, Twelve, Thirteen, Fourteen, Fifteen, Eighteen, Nineteen, Twenty were denied as procedurally barred. (PC-R. 844-854) No appeal is taken.

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