IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RONALD WAYNE CLARK, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC07-2318

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0708399

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Clark told Dr. Chaknis that he fought extensively in school and had been suspended on several occasions for misconduct. (PCR Supp. Vol. I 22). Clark told Dr. Chaknis that he "derived extreme enjoyment from hurting other people and watching blood splatter." (PCR Supp Vol. I 22).

According to Dr. Chaknis, Clark is immature and preoccupied with aggressive and destructive thoughts and impulses. (PCR

Supp Vol. I 25-26). Clark reported one incident where he armed himself with several weapons to severely injure a child in Oklahoma. (PCR Supp Vol. I 22).

The record supports that much of the evidence presented to Clark's Nassau County jury reflected extremely poorly on Clark. Certainly, the mitigation evidence did not persuade the Nassau County jury to recommend Clark be sentenced to life in prison. Counsel is not deficient for making a tactical decision not to present evidence that his client is a sociopath who has engaged in violent and rape-like behavior, desires to kill or disembowel those he perceives have harmed him, and enjoys seeing others Looney v. State, 941 So. 2d 1017, 1029 (Fla. 2006) hurt. (Counsel not ineffective for failing to call mental health expert, Dr. Gutman, who diagnosed Looney as anti-social personality disorder); Hamilton v. State, 875 So.2d 586, 593 (Fla. 2004) (counsel not ineffective for not presenting the testimony of defense expert, Dr. Mhatre, who would opine that Hamilton had anti-social personality disorder); Reed v. State, 875 So.2d 415, 437 (Fla. 2004) ("[T]his Court has acknowledged in the past that antisocial personality disorder is 'a trait most jurors tend to look disfavorably upon'") (quoting Freeman v. State, 852 So.2d 216, 224 (Fla. 2003)).

Finally, this claim should be denied because Clark can show no prejudice. Clark did not present any additional mitigation
at the evidentiary hearing. Accordingly, in order to show prejudice for failing to present the same mitigation as was presented to Clark's Nassau County jury, Clark must show there is a reasonable probability that, if trial counsel would have presented this same evidence, he probably would have received a life sentence in his Duval County case. This he cannot do.

In claiming that Clark was prejudiced by trial counsel's failure to present the same mitigation presented to Clark's Nassau County jury, Clark points to the fact that the evidence, while not weighty enough to convince Clark's Nassau County jury and trial judge that a life sentence was appropriate, was sufficient to convince the Florida Supreme Court to reduce Clark's death sentence to life in prison. (IB 31). In presenting this argument, Clark presumes that trial counsel's ineffectiveness may be proven by the subsequent actions this Court took on appeal. Clark is mistaken.

This Court in <u>Carratelli v. State</u>, 961 So.2d 312 (Fla. 2007) rejected such a notion. In order for a collateral defendant to show trial counsel was ineffective, he must show there is a reasonable probability of a different outcome at trial, not on appeal. <u>Id</u>. at 323. Accordingly, the fact this Court ultimately reduced Clark's Nassau County sentence to life does not prove Clark suffered prejudice in his Duval County case.

Even if this Court's decision in Clark's Nassau County case were relevant to this Court's consideration of Clark's claim now, this Court did not reduce Clark's Nassau County death sentence to life because of overwhelming mitigation evidence. Instead, Clark's death sentence was reduced to life, for the most part, because this Court found insufficient evidence to support three of the four aggravators found to exist by the trial court (HAC, CCP, and in the course of a robbery). Left with only one aggravator (pecuniary gain) and what the Court characterized as strong non-statutory mitigation, this Court reduced Clark's sentence to life. <u>Clark v. State</u>, 609 So.2d 513 (Fla. 1992).

This case, however, was in a completely different posture than was the Nassau County case. In the case at bar, the trial court found, and this Court upheld, that two aggravators existed, including a conviction for a prior murder: (1) Clark had previously been convicted of a violent felony, the Nassau County murder and (2) the murder was committed in the course of a robbery/pecuniary gain (which were merged into one aggravator).

The presence of a prior murder conviction under similar circumstances was, without doubt, a weighty aggravator. Because the instant case is in a completely different posture than was the Nassau County case, the fact this Court reduced Clark's

sentence to life in prison, in the Nassau County case, does not satisfy Strickland's prejudice prong in the instant case.

Putting on this same evidence would have also opened the door to the State calling an expert, such as Dr. Tannahill Glen, who testified at the evidentiary hearing on behalf of the State. Dr. Glen testified that Clark is malingering and has anti-social personality disorder. Persons with anti-social personality disorder manifest behaviors such as a lack of remorse for maladaptive or hurtful behaviors, lying in order to cover up one's culpability for wrongdoing, irresponsibility, inability to hold a job, and a pervasive disregard for one's own or other people's safety. (PCR Vol. VI 1044). It is common for a person with anti-social personality disorder to engage in criminal behavior. (PCR Vol. VI 1044).

According to Dr. Glen, a person with anti-social personality disorder knows right from wrong and can choose to conform his conduct to the law. He simply chooses not to. (PCR Vol. VI 1046). A person with an anti-social personality disorder makes active choices to behave in a certain manner regardless of the effect on other people. (PCR Vol. VI 1045).

Clark, however, is more than anti-social. Dr. Glen testified that Clark is a sociopath and narcissistic. In addition to the typical traits of an anti-social personality

disorder, a sociopath is someone who has a sadistic streak and has no remorse for hurting others. (PCR Vol. VI 1049).<sup>13</sup>

Lastly, Clark can show no prejudice because presenting the same mitigation witnesses presented to Clark's Nassau County jury would have allowed the Duval County jury to hear testimony that Clark is a violent sociopath who tried to attack a high school class mate and vice-principal with a two-by-four, had engaged in "rape-like behavior" with numerous young women, was a drug dealer, had fought often in school, was suspended on several occasions for misconduct, and derived extreme enjoyment from hurting other people and watching blood splatter.

Given the nature of much of the "mitigating" evidence presented to Clark's Nassau County jury, Clark cannot show there reasonable probability that, had the Nassau County is а mitigation been presented in the instant case, the jury would have concluded the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death. Willacy v. State, 967 So.2d 131, 144 (Fla. 2007) (no prejudice shown because presenting mental mitigation that may include a diagnosis that Willacy was a sociopath would likely have been more harmful than helpful); Evans v. State, 946 So.2d 1, 13 (Fla. 2006)(Evans has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Dr. Glen testified that Clark is bright and does not suffer from any emotional disturbance. Clark's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct is not impaired. (PCR Vol. VI 1053).

failed to establish prejudice because the mitigation evidence he presented at the evidentiary hearing would likely have been more harmful than helpful); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 921 So.2d 490, 501 (Fla. 2005); <u>Freeman v. State</u>, 852 So.2d 216, 224 (Fla. 2003)(anti-social personality disorder is a trait most jurors look disfavorably upon). Clark's claim should be denied.

#### ISSUE II

### WHETHER NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE WARRANTS A NEW TRIAL.

In Clark's second claim before this Court, Clark avers that newly discovered evidence warrants a new trial. Clark alleges that the testimony of Michael Thompson constitutes newly discovered evidence. Mr. Thompson testified that Clark's codefendant, John Hatch told him he shot Mr. Willis. (IB 42-48).

## A. Standard of Review

When the trial court rules on a newly discovered evidence claim after an evidentiary hearing, this Court reviews the trial court's findings on questions of fact, the credibility of witnesses, and the weight of the evidence for competent, substantial evidence. <u>Melendez v. State</u>, 718 So.2d 746, 747-48 (Fla. 1998); <u>Blanco v. State</u>, 702 So.2d 1250, 1251 (Fla. 1997). This Court then reviews the trial court's application of the law to the facts *de novo*. <u>Preston v. State</u>, 970 So.2d 789, 798 (Fla. 2007).

### B. Applicable Law

The test to be applied to claims of newly discovered evidence was first enunciated in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 709 So.2d 512 (Fla. 1998). To obtain a new trial based on newly discovered evidence, a defendant must meet two requirements.

First, the evidence must not have been known by the trial court, the party, or counsel at the time of trial, and it must

appear that the defendant or defense counsel could not have known of it by the use of diligence. Second, the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 709 So.2d at 521.

Newly discovered evidence satisfies the second prong of the <u>Jones</u> test if it "weakens the case against [the defendant] so as to give rise to a reasonable doubt as to his culpability." <u>Jones</u>, 709 So.2d at 526 (quoting <u>Jones v. State</u>, 678 So.2d 309, 315 (Fla. 1996)). If the defendant is seeking to vacate a sentence, the second prong requires that the newly discovered evidence would probably yield a less severe sentence. <u>See Jones</u> v. State, 591 So.2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1991).

In determining whether the evidence compels a new trial, the collateral court must "consider all newly discovered evidence which would be admissible" and must "evaluate the weight of both the newly discovered evidence and the evidence which was introduced at the trial." <u>Id</u>. at 916. This determination includes whether the evidence goes to the merits of the case or whether it constitutes impeachment evidence.

The collateral court should also determine whether the evidence is cumulative to other evidence in the case. The collateral court should further consider the materiality and relevance of the evidence and any inconsistencies in the newly

discovered evidence. <u>Jones</u>, 709 So.2d at 521 (citations omitted).

### C. The collateral court's ruling

The collateral court denied this claim on three independent grounds. First, the collateral court found the claim was untimely because Clark failed to file this new claim within one year of the time he discovered it. The collateral court pointed to Rule 3.851(d)(2)(A) in ruling the claim was untimely. (PCR Vol. V 857).

The collateral court also denied the claim because the court concluded that Clark failed to establish the evidence would have been admissible at Clark's trial. (PCR Vol. V 857). Finally, the collateral court denied the claim because he found, in light of Thompson's credibility problems; the newly discovered evidence would not likely produce an acquittal at trial. (PCR Vol. V 857).

## D. Merits

This Court should affirm the trial court's order for three reasons. First, the claim was never properly before the collateral court. Rule 3.851 (d) and (e), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, requires a defendant, under oath, to set forth his claims for post-conviction relief. Clark does not dispute he failed to raise this claim of newly discovered evidence in his amended motion for post-conviction relief.

A defendant who discovers he has omitted a timely claim from his motion for post-conviction relief is not without remedy. Rule 3.851(f)(4) does provide a mechanism for amending a motion before the evidentiary hearing. In accord with the rule, a trial judge may permit a defendant to amend his motion at any time up to 30 days prior to the evidentiary hearing upon motion and good cause shown. A trial judge may grant a motion to amend, in his discretion, provided the motion sets forth the reason the claim was not raised earlier and the defendant attaches a copy of the claim sought to be added. *Rule* 3.851(f)(4), *Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure*.<sup>14</sup>

Clark did not file a motion to amend his pending postconviction motion to add a claim of newly discovered evidence. Instead, Clark surprised the state and the collateral court by calling a witness whose testimony was completely unrelated to the claims for which an evidentiary hearing was granted. Indeed, at the evidentiary hearing, Clark initially denied that he was calling Mr. Thompson to support a new claim of newly discovered evidence. Instead, he claimed that Mr. Thompson's testimony was relevant to mitigation. (PCR Vol. VI 940).

Clark subsequently admitted that Mr. Thompson was called to support a newly discovered evidence claim. Clark requested he be

 $<sup>^{14}</sup>$  The State preserved this objection before the collateral court. (PCR Vol. VI 29-30).

allowed to amend his motion to conform to the evidence. He never did, however. (PCR Vol. VI 961-962). This Court should find this claim was not properly before the collateral court because Clark never raised this claim in a sworn motion for post-conviction relief.<sup>15</sup>

If this Court were to consider this claim a *de facto* supplemental motion, this claim should still be rejected because it was not timely filed. Rule 3.851(d), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, provides that no motion shall be considered unless it is brought within one year from the time a defendant's conviction becomes final.

An exception to this one year requirement is made when the defendant alleges there exists newly discovered evidence that could not have been discovered during that one year period with due diligence. Rule 3.851(d)(2)(A), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. A defendant does not, however, have unlimited time to bring a claim of newly discovered evidence. Rather, a defendant must bring a claim of newly discovered evidence within one year of the time he discovered the evidence or with due diligence could have discovered it. Glock v. Moore, 776 So.2d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> If this court allows this practice to be followed, it will open to door to defendants intentionally and routinely failing to include a claim in a sworn motion, then attempting to surprise the State and the collateral court on the day of the evidentiary hearing with new unsworn claims that the State has had no opportunity to answer or prepare for.

243, 251 (Fla. 2001)("Any claim of newly discovered evidence in a death penalty case must be brought within one year of the date such evidence was discovered or could have been discovered through the exercise of due diligence.").

Michael Thompson testified he told Clark about his conversation with John David Hatch in the early part of 2005 about two years before the February 26, 2007 evidentiary hearing. (PCR Vol. VI 950-953). Accordingly, Clark had till the end of February 2006, to file a supplemental motion or to amend his pending motion. Clark did not do so. Instead, Clark waited till the day of his evidentiary hearing to raise this claim.

Clark acknowledges that the claim is untimely. Clark seeks to excuse his failure to raise the claim earlier on three bases. First, collateral counsel was not able to talk to or have access to Thompson until shortly before the hearing. (IB 44). However, there is no evidence in the record to support that assertion.

Next, Clark also claims he was "ill" much of the intervening year. Clark offers no details and offers no explanation how his illness prevented him from communicating his conversation with Thompson, to counsel, until "shortly before the hearing." (IB 44). Finally, Clark claims that he could not

raise this claim before because current counsel was not appointed till March 2006.

None of Clark's excuses has legal merit. Clark, himself, knew of the claim in the early part of 2005. Accordingly, Clark discovered this evidence some two years before the evidentiary hearing. In accord with Rule 3.851(d)(2), Clark's supplemental claim was "filed" one year too late. The collateral court's finding that Clark's claim is untimely should be affirmed.

Finally, this claim may be denied because Clark failed to show that Mr. Thompson's testimony, when considered along with all the other evidence introduced at trial, would likely produce an acquittal upon re-trial or even a lighter sentence. At the evidentiary hearing, Thompson testified that John David Hatch cried when he told him that he had to testify against his codefendant to save his life. According to Thompson, Hatch told him that he was in the car with this guy and the guy got shot in a drug deal gone bad. (PCR Vol. VI 947).

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